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154.                           EXTRATERRITORIAL CASES.
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR CHINA.

United States v. Thomas Jones. [Criminal Cause, No. 31; filed May 4, 909.]

SYLLABUS. (By the Editor.)

1. EVIDENCE: CREDIBILITY. Chinese testimony must be weighed by the same rules as any other.

155                         UNITED STATES V. JONES, MAY 4, 1909.

2. Id.: The testimony of an accused must be considered with due allowance

for his interest.

3. Id. : Homicide. Evidence reviewed and found sufficient to convict

of involuntary manslaughter but not of murder.

Arthur Basset, Esq., U. S. Dist. Atty., for the prosecution.

W. S. Fleming, Esq., for the defendant.

Thayer, J.:

The information in this case charges that one, Thomas Jones, a citizen of the United States, on or about March 20, 1909, in the City of Chefoo, China, did feloniously, wilfully and of malice aforethought, make an assault on one Kung Ch'ing a Chinese subject; that he did then and there feloniously, willfully and of malice aforethought discharge a pistol at the said Kung Ch'ing, thereby inflicting upon the said Kung Ch'ing a mortal wound, from the effects of which the said Kung Ch'ing died on March 27, 1909, and that in the manner and form aforesaid, the said Thomas Jones did feloniously, willfully and of malice aforethought Mil and murder the said Kung Ch'ing.

   The crime charged is the common law crime of murder which corresponds to the statutory crime of murder in the first degree as defined in the statutes
 of the United States when committed in a place over which the national government has lawful and exclusive jurisdiction.

   Preliminary hearings were had before the American Vice Consul at Chefoo and the defendant was by that officer committed to this Court for trial on said charge. Subsequently on April 14, 1909, the District Attorney filed the information in substance as above recited. Upon arraignment the defendant plead "Not guilty."

   The corpus delicti was fully established by the attending physician who saw the wounded man very shortly after he received the shot, removed the bullet at once without difficulty, and attended the patient until the time of his death. He also performed a post mortem examination on the afternoon of the death, which occurred at four o'clock in the morning of March 27. 
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   There is no question that the wound was inflicted by a gun shot, and that said wound was the cause of death. Analysis of the testimony discloses only a few points of serious conflict, reference to which will be made later. The facts established by the testimony without denial or dispute are that at the time he received the wound the deceased was in a sampan near what is known as the "jetty," the ordinary landing place in Chefoo of passengers going to or from ships in the harbor. The exact position of the sampan at the time the wound was received is in dispute and the testimony relating thereto will be discussed later.
   Undisputed testimony shows that at the time Kung Ch'ing received the wound the sampan was occupied by himself, one Hsuen, the first Chinese witness for the prosecution, and one Chinese passenger, whose name does not appear; that upon receiving the wound the victim made an outcry and collapsed in the sampan, and that the boat was brought quickly to the jetty and the wounded man was taken out and put in a ricsha and conveyed thence to a point near the foreign club; that his attendants were seeking the American Consul, who was met in the street near that point; that the reason for going to the American Consul was that they, the sampanmen who helped the wounded man ashore, understood, or were informed, that the shot which had inflicted the wound had been fired by an American citizen, and that the American Consul, as was his duty, immediately took cognizance of the case.     

   It is also undisputed that the defendant, Thomas Jones, was in the late afternoon of the day referred to, viz: March 20, 1909, on said jetty and near one of the two landing places connected therewith; that he had in his possession a small revolver, of the pattern known as a "Baby Browning," that the same was loaded with one or more charges and that while the said Jones was on said jetty, near one of the landing places, and while said revolver was in the hand or hands of the said Jones, one shot was discharged therefrom. 
   The attending physician who removed the bullet from the deceased testified that it was a "small bullet" and he called it a "Baby Browning." In giving this testimony

UNITED STATES V. JONES, MAY 4, 1909.                                           157
he quoted a remark by others to whom he exhibited the bullet, which was quite obviously inadmissible testimony at that time, but subsequent testimony of the same witness showed that he was quite familiar with fire arms, and other testimony makes it practically impossible to doubt that the bullet discharged from the revolver held by Jones was the identical one which inflicted the wound.

   While the defendant testifies to facts and circumstances which, if true, would relieve him from a verdict of wilful murder, he does not claim or assert, nor does his counsel claim or assert for him, that there is the slightest doubt that the said wound was caused by the identical bullet discharged on that day and place from the defendant's revolver. There is no proof that any other shot was fired in that vicinity on or about that time, and the identity of the bullet effecting the wounding of Kung Ch'ing with that discharged from defendant's gun must be regarded as established beyond a reasonable doubt.   

   The next material fact respecting which there is some slight, tho, in the opinion of the Court, no material, conflicting testimony, is the time or exact hour when the shot was fired. Dr. Gulowsen, in answer to question as to what was the time when he first saw the wounded man, said it was about four o'clock but later said "it might have been as late as five o'clock" altho he did not particularly remember the hour. The several Chinese witnesses for the prosecution do not fix with exactness the time when the shot was fired but say that it was about four o'clock. The defendant testified in detail as to his movements during the afternoon of that day and produced corroborating testimony tending to establish the fact that it was after five o'clock when he reached the jetty. In fact some of his corroborating witnesses testified respecting defendant's movements in such way as would necessarily have brought the defendant to the jetty at a much later time than that at which the defendant himself admits he reached the jetty on the afternoon in question. But this conflict of testimony is neither serious nor material. The time testified to by the witnesses for the prosecution is not fixed with any precision as to the exact moment when the events occurred
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and the question of time has no material relevancy with reference either to main questions of fact or to the credibility of any of the witnesses on either side unless it be to the discredit of defendant's witnesses who outstripped his own memory. 

   The next question relates to the location of the sampan in which the deceased was standing at the time when he received the mortal wound. We have on the one side the testimony of the Chinese witnesses who were either in the boat when Kung Ch'ing was wounded or on the jetty when the shot was fired or in the sampan in which the defendant afterward embarked. The Court visited the jetty upon the request of the District Attorney, attended by the latter and the defendant's attorney, and carefully observed the two landings and their relation to each other and the immediate surroundings of the jetty. The two landings are approximately one hundred feet apart, measured by the eye. One of them is at the north and one at the south. Between them the jetty wall curves inward toward the shore. The testimony of the first witness, Shen Chi, is that, at the time the shot was received, the sampan in which Kung Ch'ing was standing, had already left from the south landing and had come forward on its way out and was a little south of the north landing and away from the jetty a distance of, as the witness expressed it, about the width of the room in which the Court was sitting, which cannot be far from 15 feet, and was about parallel to the jetty. This witness was in the sampan with Kung Ch'ing at the time. The second Chinese witness, Li Pao Jen, testifies that he was standing on the jetty two or three steps from the north landing when the shot was fired, that, the sampan in which Kung Ch'ing stood was then a little to the south of the north landing, and, on cross-examination, that the sampan had pushed off from shore, not far from the jetty at the time of the shot, a distance of two or three paces. The third Chinese witness, Li Ch'iu, was not questioned directly on this point, either on his direct or cross-examination. He testifies that he was standing on the jetty about five or six paces from the foreigner at the time the shot was fired, and the sampan was so near him that he observed the
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collapse of Kung Ch'ing when the latter received the wound.  The fourth Chinese witness, Hsiao Pao Shan, was not in a position to see the Kung Ch'ing sampan at the time the gun was fired, but he saw it near the jetty immediately afterwards. 

   The fifth Chinese witness, Wang Sai Yuan, was the sampanman in whose boat the defendant was taken to the lightship. He testifies that he was close to the north landing when the shot was fired and that Kung Ch'ing's sampan was, at that time, very near his boat and a little to the southward.

   Defendant testifies that he did not see any sampan less than twenty or thirty paces from the jetty except the one in which he subsequently embarked and that none were near to the jetty during the time of his arrival there and his embarkation except that which took him out to the lightship a few minutes later. In other words, on this point, he flatly contradicts the testimony given by the Chinese witnesses, who also testify respecting the firing of the shot, the circumstances under which it was fired, the position of defendant's arm when the gun was discharged and all the attending circumstances. This testimony is all very direct and tends to establish that the defendant, after reaching the jetty, beckoned to the sampan in which were Kung Ch'ing and Shen Chi and one Chinese passenger, who had just pushed off from the south landing, and were then a little south of the north landing. This sampan paid no attention to defendant's signal. The defendant then beckoned to a second sampan nearby, which also ignored his signal. He then drew from his pocket a pistol or gun and fired one shot, with arm extended, in the direction of Kung Ch'ing's sampan, and immediately returned the pistol to his pocket.

   The first Chinese witness, Shen Chi, was in the boat with Kung Ch'ing. His back was toward the defendant when the shot was fired, but he heard the shot and turned and saw the defendant returning the gun to his pocket, a small part showing in his hand. The second Chinese witness, Li Pao Jen, was standing on the jetty, near the north landing, two or three steps from the defendant whom, he testifies, he saw beckon to the two sampans in succession 
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that he was angry and swore, or was in a fighting attitude, and that he put his right hand in his pocket, pulled his gun out, pointed and fired. The third Chinese witness, Li Ch'iu, was also on the jetty standing a few steps distant from the defendant when the shot was fired. He also testifies to the two signals made by the defendant to sampans, which were ignored, to his apparent anger; to his drawing the gun from his pocket with his right hand, pointing it toward the sampan of Kung Ch'ing; to hearing the loud report, and to the return of the gun by the defendant to his pocket. The fourth Chinese witness, Hsiao Pao Shan, was also on the jetty at the time when the shot was fired, about twenty paces back of the defendant, heard the shot but did not see the gun, heard the shout that "this man had been hurt" and went to the edge of the jetty. While the wounded man was being carried up at the south landing the defendant, he says, entered a sampan at the north landing and left. The fifth Chinese witness, Wang Sai Yuan, was the sampanman who took defendant off to the lightship after the gun was fired. He testified to hearing the shot and to seeing the defendant's arm extended. All of these witnesses also testified to seeing the wounded man, either immediately after he was shot or shortly after, when he was helped out of the sampan at the south landing.

   The defendant testifies that he went to the jetty somewhat after five o'clock of the afternoon of the shooting for the purpose of making a visit to the Neuchwang Lightship; that he had taken a walk earlier in the afternoon and, before leaving for the walk, had put the "Baby Browning" revolver in his right vest pocket as a protection against vicious dogs; that he forgot to remove the pistol from his pocket when he returned to his bar and, on finding it in his pocket shortly after getting to the jetty, took the weapon out for the purpose of removing from it the clip which contained the six or less bullets with which it was charged; that he did so out of abundant caution and in accordance with his fixed habit of always unloading any gun he had before going into any boat or sampan; that while engaged in removing said clip one charge exploded—for what reason 
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he is unable to explain ; that there were no sampans in the line of the shot; that he saw the shot strike the waters about sixty or ninety feet from the jetty. He denies that he had any difficulty in securing a sampan or that he beckoned to any which failed to respond to his signal. He testifies that he saw no evidence that the shot had taken effect; that the first sampan to which he beckoned came promptly to the landing and that he left the latter in entire ignorance that anybody had been wounded.

   The theory of the defense is that, at the time when the gun was discharged, the sampan in which Kung Ch'ing was standing was not located near the jetty at the point testified by the several Chinese witnesses but at some place somewhat more than sixty or ninety feet away and to the left of the line of the shot but that the ball must have ricocheted to the left from the point where it struck the water and thus reached and wounded Kung Ch'ing.

   If this testimony of the defendant is to be accepted, it follows unavoidably that the testimony of the five Chinese witnesses must be rejected as wholly and wilfully false. In fact counsel for the defendant contends that it is utterly

unworthy of belief. His conclusion rests mainly upon three propositions: (1) That the harmony of the statements made by five Chinese witnesses must create a just suspicion that they have been skilfully prepared and drilled so as to be able to tell the same story; (2) That the Chinese mind and point of view is such that in the case of every Chinese witness a Court is bound to start with a presumption that the witness will not tell the truth; (3) That this is a racial characteristic so pronounced and so well established by authorities cited by counsel that this Court is bound to take judicial notice of it and to be guided thereby in determining the weight of evidence. 

   These propositions constitute most remarkable grounds upon which to appeal to an American court to adjudicate a cause under our system of law and procedure, the product of centuries of slow growth. To yield to counsel's contention would compel such a departure from fundamental rules of evidence as would shake the very foundation of our 

14008 O. W. 11
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system. The Court must treat the testimony of these several witnesses with exactly the same deference to rules of evidence as applies to witnesses of our own nationality, applying the tests of credibility which are familiar and well established. While the presiding Judge of this court is in no position to deny differences in race characteristics, he has not reached the point where he feels justified in making any classification on the lines suggested by counsel and he knows no law upon which he could rest such a classification if he were inclined to make it. The Court easily recognizes that these several Chinese witnesses belong to the lowest class of Chinese laborers. They are coolies of small intelligence and it is assumed that they may have feelings and prejudices and bias much the same as must be recognized in the ignorant and uneducated man in every country.  It is quite possible that their points of view and their basis of reasoning differ from those which characterize somewhat similar classes in other and especially western nations. But the Court will not accept the theory that they are incapable of telling the truth. In weighing their testimony the usual rules of evidence will be applied. The Court has little difficulty in accepting the testimony of these several Chinese witnesses as substantially truthful and presenting the material facts as they saw them or as they thought they saw them.

   But it does not follow that they may not have been mistaken as to some of the details which they recite. The incident must have produced great excitement and disturbance in the minds of each of these witnesses and it is not at all unlikely that in the few seconds involved in the handling of the weapon and in the firing of the shot, these witnesses may have been mistaken as to what were the exact movements of the defendant during this brief period of time. It cannot be reasonably doubted that some of them saw the weapon in his hand. The very nature of their testimony on this point forbids any other conclusion. For example they described the gun as a "very small gun." Those who saw it, or claim to have seen it, saw but a very short piece of the barrel extending beyond the closed hand 
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of the defendant. This corresponds exactly with the very peculiar and unusual weapon actually in the hand of the defendant at that time. It was so short as to be easily inserted in the vest pocket. It does not appear possible that these Chinese witnesses, if they had been fabricating this part of the story, could have selected and described this particular weapon. The pistol is of an unusual type—so much so that the defendant himself, tho specially familiar with all forms of weapons, both as a sportsman and by reason of his service in the Navy, claims that he had little knowledge of its practical working. It would be unreasonable to assume that these witnesses had any familiarity with such a weapon. It would be almost, if not quite, equally unreasonable to assume that any of the Chinese people or officers here in Chefoo, who might be disposed to coach these witnesses on such a matter of details, would have selected such a weapon for description. It seems practically certain that in such case the usual and common type of gun would have been selected, and one with a much longer barrel, which is easily observed by the eye and is conspicuous by the length of its barrel.

   The acceptance of the testimony of the Chinese witnesses on this point and on the point of location of the sampans at the time when the shot was fired, and of that part of their testimony which relates to the general incidents connected with the wounding of the victim and his removal from the boat, involves unavoidably the rejection of the defendant's statement as being wilfully untruthful in its essential features. In reaching such a conclusion the Court not only has a clear and unmistakable preponderance of testimony but must take cognizance of the strong self interest which would influence, if not dictate, the defendant's testimony.     In addition to this there are features of the defendant's testimony which are so unreasonable, and so out of harmony with usual events, as to satisfy the Court that they cannot be a part of a truthful account of this incident. He testifies, e. g., that one of the charges accidentally exploded while he was attempting to remove the clip. It is not at all unreasonable that such an accidental explosion
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could have occurred, tho the possibilities that it would occur in the hands of a man familiar with handling weapons, such as the defendant was, should have been small. But the defendant is not content with making that simple statement.  He admits great surprise at the sudden explosion. Exercising the care to which he testifies his surprise must have been all the more pronounced. Yet he testifies that he was so calm and observing and so quick of eye that he saw the shot from this small gun strike the water sixty or ninety feet away from where he stood. Is this a statement such as a reasonable mind can accept as either possibly or probably true? All the testimony shows that this gun is a gun of great power. The velocity of the bullet immediately after discharge was very great. The merest fragment of a second in time only could have been consumed after ignition of the charge in the speeding of this bullet from the gun to a point sixty or ninety feet distant. It seems probable to the Court that before the sound of the explosion was registered in the consciousness of the defendant this bullet had largely sped its course.

   Another striking example of defendant's lack of sincerity and truthfulness occurs in his cross-examination:

Q. Now, in what direction from the jetty did the ball strike the water as you saw it?

A. It went in front of me. I was in the corner of the steps and there was no sampan there. They were off to the left.

Q. How far from you did this ball hit the water?

A. I would say twenty or thirty paces. I did not measure it.

Q. How far from you were the sampans anchored?

A. I would say about fifteen or twenty paces.

Q. So the bullet from the gun you fired struck the water at a greater distance from you than the sampans were anchored from you?

A. Yes, sir, and in a different direction.

   Here the defendant permits himself to place the point of first contact of the bullet with the water not only out of the line of direction of the sampans but beyond their location.  To enable that bullet to reach and wound the victim Kung Ch'ing, locating the sampan and the first point of contact of the bullet with the water where the defendant places them, would necessitate a ricochet at an angle from the point of
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impact of considerably more than ninety degrees. The Court knows of no authority which would allow it to accept such a variation of the bullet as possible. Yet that identical bullet reached and killed Kung Ch'ing. This fragment of testimony indicates to the mind of the Court that the defendant was ready to testify freely and recklessly in the line of what he supposed to be his best defense but was unable to perceive the logical difficulties into which this testimony would precipitate him. The Court deems it unnecessary to go farther in a detailed analysis of the testimony. The above examples are not the only ones which operate on the mind of the Court, but they are deemed sufficient.

   The Court now passes on to the grave duty of determining the character of the offense committed by the defendant and a consideration of the evidence which, in the judgment and conscience of the Court, must determine that question. The Court is unaided by a jury. It has imposed upon it the duty of giving to the defendant the benefit of all reasonable doubts and the presumption of innocence until the evidence establishes his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. As already stated nothing was observed in the bearing of the Chinese witnesses which inspired any doubt of their truthfulness or of their desire to describe the events as they occurred. However, the Court recognizes that they may have been mistaken in some details and especially as to what were the exact movements and attitude of the defendant during that very brief period of time while the gun was in his hands. Any witness, however intelligent and honest, in the excitement of such a moment, conceives hurried impressions which are only too likely, in common experience, to be confirmed and turned into honest beliefs by succeeding events which appear to be consistent with previous impressions hurriedly formed. The guilt of the defendant in this case, or the degree of his guilt, turns, in the opinion of the Court, upon one simple question of fact, to be deduced from the evidence in the record: Was the defendant's arm extended at the time when the shot was discharged? The most of these Chinese witnesses testify that it was so
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extended. If this testimony is to be accepted as representing the actual position of the defendant's arm at that time, the fact thus established would disclose purpose and intent and possibly compel the Court to adopt the common law rule of implied malice to which the District Attorney has directed attention. The defendant claims that the shot was accidentally fired while he was attempting to remove the clip from the gun. Assume that it did so occur, What would have been the movements of the defendant? While he was actually engaged in removing the clip it seems quite certain that both hands would have been engaged. But who shall say what movement of the arm or arms might have been made by a man in whose hands, while engaged in unloading it, a charge suddenly explodes? Might not his arm extend itself with nervous quickness in any direction? And would it not have been very easy for an observer, whose attention was attracted by the explosion, to interpret it as preceding rather than following the shot. Is it not possible, even for an observer who was looking at a man, engaged as the defendant claims to have been in removing this clip, and the observer not knowing what the defendant was doing, to have made a similar error in observation? These inquiries present to the mind and judgment of the Court the most vital question in this case. Giving to the defendant the benefits to which he is entitled under the law, the Court is not satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant's arm was extended at the time when the gun was discharged. In reaching this conclusion the Court has not overlooked the evidence in the case which tends to show that the defendant was angry. No witness heard him speak. The utmost shown by the evidence was an appearance of anger which was attributed to the failure of two sampans to respond to the defendant's signal. The provocation, if as alleged, was certainly slight and not ordinarily enough to inspire murderous intent. It is these feelings of doubt, and this sense of lack of reasonably conclusive proof of intent, which control the judgment of the Court.

   But it has no difficulty in reaching a conclusion that the explosion of the charge in the hands of the defendant, which wounded and caused the death of Kung Ch'ing, was due
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to the criminal negligence of the defendant. The weapon was recognized by the defendant as a dangerous one. By his own statement he was familiar with fire-arms and accustomed to use them. The gun was his own and if, as he alleges, he had not fully acquainted himself with its action, that cannot excuse him. He attempted to unload this dangerous gun on the public jetty, corresponding to a public street, and exercised so little care that a shot was exploded, altho the weapon was specially designed against possible accidental discharge and was provided with devices intended to make its accidental discharge practically impossible.

   It is the judgment of the Court that the accused is guilty of involuntary manslaughter and the Court sentences the said Thomas Jones, for the commission of the said crime, to imprisonment for the period of three years in the jail of the American consulate at Shanghai from May 4, 1909,
279

UNITED STATES V. LUNT, MAY 17, 1912.                                                            
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR CHINA.

United States v. Carroll P. Lunt.

[Criminal Cause No. 66; filed May 17, 1912.]

SYLLABUS.

(By the Editor.)
HOMICIDE: NEGLIGENCE: EVIDENCE reviewed and found insufficient to show criminal intent or carelessness.
Frank E. Hinckley, Esq., U. S. Dist. Atty., for the prosecution.

Nemo, contra.
Thayer, J.:

The District Attorney has correctly stated the law defining the various forms of homicide. The defendant was in a boat with four Chinamen, three of whom were boatmen.  He had with him an ordinary sporting gun which he intended to use in shooting birds. After sailing some time and no birds having come in range he broke the gun and lay down for rest putting his leg over the gun so as to prevent it being handled by the Chinese should he fall asleep.  When later he got up he attempted to close the gun. The parts did not work smoothly. He was compelled to use considerable muscular force and the parts finally came together with a shock and at the same time one of the cartridges in the gun exploded. A Chinese boatman, seated only a few feet from the defendant and a little above him at the time of the discharge, received the contents of the cartridge in the side of his face and neck, and death ensued almost instantaneously. There had been no trouble between him and the defendant and the evidence discloses an entire want of motive for an attack, and hence no criminal intent. It was a pure accident and the sole question is whether the defendant so handled the gun at the time of its discharge as to be reasonably guilty of criminal carelessness. He was not at the time engaged in any unlawful act. Game is plentiful about Harbin and it was entirely legitimate for him to engage in sport. He was out partly for that purpose and his companions must have been fully
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aware of that fact. His purpose and surroundings were such as to warrant the handling of the gun. He was bound to use care in doing so but under the circumstances of this case he cannot be presumed to have been criminally careless. Unless the contrary is shown by positive evidence the defendant is entitled to the presumption of innocence and carefulness.

   Under ordinary conditions the mere closing of the breach of a gun would not cause its discharge and testimony was given by a gun expert that such closing was not considered at all dangerous. When the moment is reached for firing the trigger is pulled, a spring is released and a sharp blow follows upon the sensitized cap and the discharge immediately occurs. Such is the purpose of the mechanism and if it fail to meet that purpose the gun is fatally defective. There was no evidence that such was the case, nor that the defendant had any reason to doubt that the gun was in normal condition. It is also well known that notwithstanding the exercise of great care in the handling of firearms accidents often occur terminating most unfortunately and the Court is well satisfied from the evidence that this is one of those unfortunate cases where the wound was inflicted and death occurred thru pure misadventure.

   Under these circumstances no criminal responsibility attaches to the defendant and the Court has no hesitation in finding a verdict of not guilty. The defendant will be discharged and the shotgun returned to its owner.
UNITED STATES V. ROHRER, DEC. 16, 1915.                                515
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR CHINA.

United States v. John Rohrer, alias Thomas Riggs alias

John Cook.

[Cause No. 471; filed December 16, 1915.]

SYLLABUS.

(By the Court.)
1. CRIMES: Procedure. Testimony is proper, even after a plea of guilty, for the purpose of showing aggravating or extenuating circumstances to be considered in fixing the penalty.

2. Id. : A Plea of Guilty is not technically an extenuating circumstance.

3. Id. : Self-defense. It is incumbent on the accused to prove self-defense and to show that he took reasonable precautions, including retreat if practicable, to prevent attack.

4. Id. : Id. : Evidence examined and found insufficient to show that the crime was committed in self defense.

5. Id. : Penalty. Where there are several aggravating, and no extenuating, circumstances the maximum penalty will be imposed. 

Chauncey P. Holcomb, Esq., U. S. Dist. Atty., (with whom were Messrs. Anderson and Williatn S. Fleming representing the Chinese government), for the prosecution.

H. D. Rodger, Esq., for the defense.
LOBINGIER, J.:

The accused under various aliases pleads guilty to an information charging that he

"purposely and maliciously killed one, Yu Fen Chi, a policeman and citizen of the Republic of China, by shooting him with a rifle, inflicting a mortal wound; of which said mortal wound the said Yu Fen Chi immediately died; this on or about the twentieth day of June, nineteen hundred and fifteen; this at or near the village of Hsing Lung in the Chien P'ing District of the Province of Chihli in the Republic of China, and within the jurisdiction of said Court; and thereby was and is guilty of the crime of murder: against the laws of the United States".
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The plea of guilty removes from the case all questions except those relating to the penalty. It will be seen that the information charges neither premeditation nor commission in the actual or attempted perpetration of another crime. The offense charged, therefore, is no more than "murder in the second degree" 
 the penalty for which is imprisonment for a period ranging from ten years to life.
 The difference between the maximum and minimum terms being so great, and the consequent discretion conferred upon the court being so wide, the details of the affair must be analyzed in order to ascertain whether aggravating or extenuating circumstances accompanied the crime.

   According to the testimony which the prosecution was permitted to introduce for this purpose, the accused was a private soldier in the 15th regiment of infantry stationed at Tientsin and deserted therefrom in company with one Williams in June last. Together they took a westerly course reaching on the second day the Great Wall near which, according to Williams, the accused with a rifle which he had brought from the Tientsin barracks knocked a Chinese in the head and took his shoes. The accused admits the assault but says that Williams took the shoes tho the accused wore them. Later according to all the witnesses the accused seized a horse from another Chinese and also committed the offense charged in the information. Subsequently the two invented a story, which both now admit to have been false, that they were British subjects, and told it under oath before the British Consul at Mukden.

   The commission of any other offense in connection with the one proved is, of course, an aggravating circumstance. Here there was not only one but a series—including desertion, assault, larceny (two offenses), robbery (apparently) and perjury.

   In addition there is the circumstance that the crime charged was committed within the territory, and upon a subject, of a friendly nation which by its treaties with our own government permits American citizens to reside in said territory and remain under their own laws and courts, but upon the express condition that "justice shall be equit-
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ably and impartially administered." 
 This imposes upon said courts the obligation to see that such laws are enforced at least as rigorously as they would be in America itself.

   On the other hand we are unable to find proof of any extenuating circumstances. For the plea of guilty, while it may be taken into account, is technically not such a circumstance.
 It was suggested in argument that the accused found himself in a strange country, became alarmed at his surroundings and that this is some way mitigated the offense. It must be remembered, however, that he had gone into that region voluntarily and had even deserted from the military service of his country in order to reach there. The situation was, consequently, altogether of his own making and can hardly be considered in his own behalf.

   Nor do we think that the evidence approaches a showing that the crime of murder, here confessed, was committed in self-defense. For that fact is one which it is incumbent on the accused to establish.
 It is true that both he and Williams claim that the victim was running toward the accused gun in hand when the latter fired. But not only does this contradict all the Chinese witnesses, who state that the deceased carried his gun in a sling across his shoulder; even if accepted it does not show that retreat was impracticable or that the accused made any effort to avoid the alleged attack; and these are essential elements of self-defense."

There being several aggravating and no extenuating circumstances we feel bound, in accordance with the more advanced authorities on criminal law 
to impose the maximum penalty.

The accused is accordingly sentenced to life imprison-
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ment and to pay the costs of this prosecution. Under the ruling of the Attorney-General he will be transported to Bilibid Prison at Manila, territory of the Philippines, there to commence the service of said term of imprisonment and to continue until provision is made for his transfer to some suitable place of confinement in the United States.
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR CHINA.
In re John H. Dadisman's Will.

[Cause No. 570; filed March 12, 1917.]

SYLLABUS.

(By the Court.)
1. EVIDENCE: DIRECT PROOF OF DEATH is not required; circumstantial evidence is sufficient and in a civil case only a preponderance

is necessary.

2. Id. : Presumptions. There is a presumption of the continuance of life for seven years after one's disappearance; but this may be overcome by the presumption of good faith and innocent conduct.

3. Id. : Weight. Evidence reviewed and found sufficient to justify a finding that the testator is dead.
Stirling Fessenden, Esq., for the proponent.
LOBINGIER, J.:

The petition in this proceeding contains the usual averments for the probate of a will and inter alia that the testator "died in China on or about the 9th day of February, 1917." There is no direct proof of death, i.e., no one has been found who saw the testator die or dead but that is not necessary; circumstantial evidence will suffice to prove that as any other fact,
 and in a civil case like this a preponderance of evidence is sufficient. Nor is it claimed that the testator has been absent for a period approaching that required in order to raise the presumption of death, which is seven years.
 But again such absence is not nec-
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essary; for the circumstances may be such as to warrant a finding that death occurred within a much briefer period. As was said by an eminent judge in a well reasoned opinion:

"The established presumption of fact from the disappearance of an individual under ordinary circumstances, from whom his relatives and acquaintances have never afterwards heard, is that he continues to live for seven years after his disappearance. If this presumption was unaffected by countervailing facts, it would continue in the case at bar until August 22, 1899; but this presumption of fact is not conclusive. It may be overcome, not only when the testimony of those who saw the insured die or saw his body after his death is produced, or when he was last seen in a peril that might probably cause his death, but also when all the facts and circumstances of the case—the possible motives, if any, of the lost one to absent and conceal himself in view of approaching failure, disgrace, or punishment, his possible motives, if any, for returning to his family and occupation, his attachments to the members of his family and his friends, his interest and prospects in his business or occupation, and the extent of the unavailing search that has been made for him —are such that they would take the case out of the category of an ordinary disappearance, and would lead the unprejudiced minds of reasonable men, exercising their best judgment, guided by the established rule that life is presumed to continue seven years after an unexplained disappearance, to the conviction that death had intervened at an earlier date".

   In the case at bar the testator, who was a Secretary of the Young Men's Christian Association, had, according to the testimony, been suffering from ill health, including insomnia, for a considerable time and had been compelled to suspend his work. Sickness in his family and other troubles appear to have preyed upon his mind and he was subject to spells of intense depression, so that, as he stated to one of his physicians (Dr. Peter), ''Sometimes I had to reach up to touch bottom."

   As a result of these, he confessed to no less than three persons, the idea of self-destruction had come to him and 
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so late as January 28, less than two weeks before his disappearance, he stated to his wife, referring to a prospective journey, that he had thought of stepping off the boat. There is also testimony of insanity in his family.

   Early in February, he left with two companions for a trip to Ningpo during which his demeanor is described as quiet. An incident of the journey was a quarrel between two Chinese, one of whom tried to drown. On the return trip

he dined with his companions but failed to join in their conversation. He retired to his cabin (which he occupied alone) about 9 p. m. and has not been seen since. The ship reached port about 4 a. m. and, of the five foreign passengers, the testator's companions went ashore about 5 a. m. and the other two about 6, but no one saw the testator leave tho some of the Chinese crew were on watch most of the time. Before leaving the ship one of his companions went to testator's cabin and found it unoccupied but his clothes there and assumed that he had gone to the toilet room. When he failed to appear his effects were removed and all clothes which he had taken with him were found in his cabin with the exception of night wear and a sweater.

   It is, of course, possible that after the ship docked, the testator might have left it thru one of the lower exits; but in that case even if he had escaped the notice of the crew, who were then stirring, and had gone ashore in night attire he would naturally soon have been observed and reported; or even if he had obtained Chinese clothes (and that would have been difficult without disclosure) the disguise could hardly have been continued long. In this land of curiosity and rumor such an incident would hardly pass unnoticed and considerably more than a month has now elapsed without the semblance of tidings. Moreover such a course would imply a voluntary and premeditated flight and for that no motive has been suggested. Indeed such an explanation seems the most unnatural of all. As was said in a leading case
 already cited: "No greater wrong could be done to the character of the man than to account for his absence, even after the lapse of a few short months,
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upon the ground of a wanton abandonment of his family and friends. He could have lived a good and useful life to but little purpose if those who knew him could even entertain such a suspicion. The reasons that the evidence above mentioned raises a presumption of death are obvious; absence from any other cause, being without motive and inconsistent with the very nature of the person, is improbable. It is suggested in argument that such absence may be on account of insanity. That may be possible but as death under such circumstances is more probable than insanity in the absence of evidence thereof, the law raises a presumption of death."

   For while there is a presumption of life there is also a presumption of good faith and innocent conduct
 and under circumstances like those here proved it would seem that "the presumption of the continuance of life must yield to the stronger presumption of innocence."

   The finding of the trial Judge in another leading case
 whose facts were closely parallel to these was: 
   "I do not pretend to assert that the death of Clotworthy Boyd has been demonstrated. Indeed, it is possible that he still lives and is secreting himself. But, after listening attentively to the witnesses and observing closely their demeanor, I have come to the conclusion, I am convinced, that Clotworthy Boyd met an untimely end on the night of 31st July, 1875, and that he is dead."

   Paraphrasing this language we are unable to say that the death of the testator has been demonstrated nor is that necessary. But we are convinced that all signs point to his having leapt overboard and drowned at sea before his ship reached port. We consider the evidence, therefore, sufficient to justify us in finding:

1. That John Hunter Dadisman was an American citizen with property in China sufficient to give this Court jurisdiction in probate proceedings.

2. That the instrument attached to the petition and presented for probate is his last will and testament.

3. That he died on or about February 9, 1917.

It is accordingly considered and decreed that said instrument be admitted to probate and that Letters Testamentary issue to the petitioner, the one named herein as executrix, upon her taking the oath and executing a bond as required by law.
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR CHINA.

United States v. Pablo Sonico.

[Cause No. 607; filed January 19, 1918.]

SYLLABUS.

(By the Court.)
1. EVIDENCE. A proposed or disputed rule of evidence whose design is to avoid misleading the jury, will not be adopted in this jurisdiction where all trials are by the court.

2. Id. : This principle applied to an attempted limitation upon the rule in criminal cases which admits in evidence acts and statements in the accused's presence.

3. Id.: The Record of an Inquest upon the body of a deceased, formally held in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction, is admissible and entitled to be considered especially where no objection is offered.

4. Id. : The Flight of the Accused, immediately after the crime, the corpus delicti having been proved, may be considered as an inculpatory circumstance.

5. Id. : Identification of the accused, shortly after the crime, by three disinterested persons acting independently, held sufficient.

6. Id. : U. S. v. Martin, No. 487, distinguished.

7. Id. : Causation. Where the deceased, a young man employed at hard labor, collapsed shortly after he was stabbed, and died a few minutes later, and no intervening cause is shown, a physician's opinion, following a finding at the inquest, that death resulted from the wound, held sufficient proof of  causation.

8. MANSLAUGHTER defined and found to have been committed but with extenuating circumstances.
Chauncey P. Holcomb, Esq., U. S. Dist. Atty., for the prosecution.

M. L. Heen, Esq., for defense.

LOBINGIER, J.:
The accused is charged with "the crime of manslaughter: in that the said Pablo Sonico, within the jurisdiction of said Court, at Shanghai, China, did on or about the twenty-first day of August, nineteen hundred and seventeen, 
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cause the death of a human being, one Loh Yuen Zien, a citizen of the Republic of China, by striking him with a knife and inflicting a mortal wound, from which wound the said Loh Yuen Zien languished and died."'

   On the evening in question four Filipinos, including the accused, who were employed on the steamship Don Neil, went ashore and stopped at a Chinese fruit store (No. 1032 Yangtszepoo Road) where they bought some apples. The accused endeavored to pay for them with a twenty cent piece which the storekeeper pronounced bad and a quarrel ensued, whereupon the storekeeper called a Sikh policeman who started to take all the participants to the police station. Upon arriving at Jansen Road the Filipinos resisted and

three of them, including the accused, became engaged in a fight with some Chinese, in the course of which a Filipino stabbed a Chinese who toppled over, became unconscious and was taken to St. Luke's Hospital where he died before medical attendance reached him.

   The foregoing is undisputed but the defense raises two questions of fact, viz.: (1) the identity of the assailant and (2) the sufficiency of the wound to cause death. We shall consider the latter first.

   The prosecution offered in evidence the record (Ex. A) of an inquest held over the deceased's body by the Chinese Mixed Court Magistrate and American Assessor who found that the "death was caused by the wound." At the time of this offer defendant's counsel said (trans, p. 56): "I will admit the authenticity of the record (Ex. 'A') subject to objection on my part. * * * I object to the typewritten matter which accompanies the finding at the inquest. I admit the finding."

   Later, counsel said (p. 81):
   "I move this Honorable Court to strike from the record and files in this case the record which has been admitted (Ex. ‘A'), my motion being based on the additional testimony of the witness."

The witness here referred to was the Assessor who sat at the inquest and whose testimony related to the character of that proceeding and showed incidentally that the accused was present.

   The naked legal question whether the record of a coroner's inquest is admissible in another cause is one upon which 
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the courts are divided. In England and several American jurisdictions the record is admitted and considered, tho it is, of course, not conclusive, as to the cause of death.
 In another group of American courts such a record is excluded.
 These latter tribunals, however, formulate rules for jury trials and naturally seek to guard against unwarranted inferences which a jury might draw from a coroner's inquest. But in this jurisdiction, where all trials are by the court, no such need arises. A liberal rule which permits the court to consider such evidence for what it may be worth may safely, and we think should, be adopted here. Especially in a case like this where the record in question was once formally admitted without objection and where the motion to strike was made only after the introduction of new evidence, which in our judgment changes the situation in no way, we have no hesitancy in overruling the motion.

   The finding which was thus admitted was that death was "caused by a wound with a knife inflicted in the course of a fight," etc., referring to the affair above mentioned. But it is not the only evidence to that effect. Dr. Tucker, who was called to attend the deceased at the hospital, testified (p. 88) in response to the question as to what, in his opinion, caused the death: "My opinion is, a stab wound probably of the heart but possibly of the liver."
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It is true that the physician made no post-mortem examination; but, while this is advisable, as recommended by high authority,
 we find no warrant for rejecting the opinion on that ground. Moreover, the occurrences when the wound was inflicted, tho apparently unknown to the physician, clearly strengthen his opinion. The Sikh policeman, who arrested the Filipinos, testifies (pp. 33-34) that the deceased backed into his arms, after receiving the wound, and later became unconscious. Mr. Hilborne, who took the deceased to the hospital in his car, testifies (p. 92):

   "I saw blood oozing from his chest; I knew it was in a dangerous condition."

   Upon being asked his reasons for so concluding he said (p. 93):

   "Seeing the blood oozing from his heart, the man tried to speak and he couldn't, and knowing the closeness of the wound to the region of the heart and the constant flow of blood when it was coming out. * * * Shortly after I put him in the motor car, he collapsed."

   Now the deceased, according to the statement of his father at the inquest, was a boy of 18 and was employed as a coolie in a cotton mill. We cannot assume without evidence that one of that age and occupation died from some organic cause other than the wound which produced such a flow of blood and so soon after which the victim collapsed and died. We must therefore find the proof sufficient to show that death resulted from the wound.

II.
   After the stabbing the accused broke away and fled to the ship. Sergeant Knight of the Police force went there accompanied by a Filipino who had been brought to the station and who is identified (p. 44) as Simon Antong.

   Sergeant Knight testifies:

   "I asked him who was the tall man who used the knife, and he pointed to the accused." (p. 48.)

"Q. In what way?

A. As the man who used the knife who stabbed the Chinese on Jansen Road." (p. 43.)
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   Whereupon the witness arrested the accused.

   Defendant's counsel contends that this cannot be given full probative force because it is hearsay. But an exception has always been made of acts or statements in the accused's presence. Thus in the report
 of the Trial of Elizabeth Canning for Perjury (1754) appears the following:

   "I said to Canning, 'Now look for the woman that robbed you;' she immediately pointed to Mary Squires and said, 'That old woman in the corner was the woman that robbed me,' * * * Somebody said (I think it was Mary Squires's daughter), 'Do you hear what the gentlewoman says? she says you robbed her.' The old woman got up from the stool immediately, and said—Mr. Morton. 'I object against that being mentioned; it is no evidence.' Court. He may give an account of what was said in the defendant's hearing and presence."

   In a prosecution for horse stealing testimony that one in a group, which included the accused, had remarked that he would like to get hold of the horses in question was admitted over objection. In affirming the conviction the appellate court said:

   "We do not think this testimony was irrelevant or prejudicial if defendant was present when the statement was made, or if he made the same, but think it extremely pertinent and proper testimony, regardless of whether or not there had been a conspiracy proven. The bill [of exceptions] does not show that defendant did not hear the statement, nor does it show he did not make it. In either event, the testimony would be admissible."

   Defendant's counsel cites a textwriter's opinion
 that such evidence is "only introductory and for the purpose of introducing and explaining A's (the accused's) conduct and behavior when the charge was made and his answer upon the occasion."  But aside from the fact that no cases are cited for this limitation and that it does not appear in those above cited, it cannot be applied here because there is no evidence as to what defendant's "conduct and behaviour" were when he "was pointed out as * * * the man who stabbed the Chinese," nor that he made any "answer." Now
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defendant, tho testifying in his own behalf, does not deny that he was so "pointed out." Indeed he admits (p. 78) that Simon, the Filipino, was with "the policeman" (Sergeant Knight) who came to the ship and that the latter pointed him out as "guilty" (p. 73) and the accused does not claim that he denied the imputation or said anything. 
   We are of the opinion, therefore, that this evidence of identification must be applied as in the cases above cited and that any extension of the hearsay rule (which again is mainly to guard against misleading the jury) unless warranted by the decisions, ought not to be made in this jurisdiction where all trials are by the court.

   Defendant's counsel assails the reliability of Simon's identification on the ground that he was struggling with the Sikh policeman when the stabbing occurred and that the latter failed to recognize the assailant, whom he identified, however (pp. 39, 40), as one of the three Filipinos. Now these were Simon's companions and it would not seem strange if he were better able than the Sikh to differentiate the one who held the knife and stabbed the deceased. Nor does it follow that because the latter did -not see the stabbing Simon could not. His failure to mention it or his identification at the preliminary investigation, eight days later and in his deposition, taken fifteen days later, might well be explained on the ground that sufficient time had then elapsed for the boys to agree upon a different story; which may also have been the reason why they were not called by the government. At any rate Simon's undisputed identification at the ship, immediately after the stabbing, seems to us more trustworthy than a story told one or two weeks later.

   After defendant's identification and arrest on shipboard he was taken to the police station and there placed in a room with the other Filipinos. The storekeeper who had sold him the fruit was then called and asked to indicate the one who stabbed the deceased. He, too, pointed to the accused as did, likewise, a cotton mill coolie (pp. 50, 51). Both of these men testified at the trial that they saw the accused stab the deceased (pp. 4, 25).
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   Counsel devotes more than half of his argument to a criticism of the storekeeper's testimony. His analysis of the latter is keen and searching but fails to convince us that the storekeeper was romancing when he testified that he saw the stabbing. The discrepancies real or alleged in his different statements mainly involve points of minor importance and might in part be accounted for by the difficulties of translation and in part by the lapse of nearly five months between the preliminary examination and the trial. It is not claimed, however, that there is any discrepancy in various descriptions of the actual stabbing occurrence. No amount of cross-examination sufficed to shake the storekeeper's positive statements on that point.

   We do not find that a fair construction of what this witness says requires us to assume either that his view was obstructed by telegraph poles and trees nor that his attention was distracted by the arrest of Simon, which would be less important to him than the stabbing. He had one great advantage, too, in recognizing the accused; he had seen and talked with him face to face earlier in the evening. Counsel suggests the difference over payment for the fruit as a cause of bias against the accused. But if so it was one which must have operated similarly against his companions, for all had bought the fruit and the others had failed to pay. There seems to be no sufficient reason why the storekeeper should select one more than another. But that he should recognize the accused was perfectly natural, especially as the latter is "a tall Filipino" distinguishable in that way from his companions. (Pre. Ex., p. 14.)

   The latter circumstance would also naturally aid the other Chinese witness in his identification of the accused. He is a coolie, of course, and acutely trained powers of observation cannot be expected of him. He is unable to recall some of the surrounding circumstances; but the sight of the knife and the stabbing would certainly make an impression. Nor is there any suggestion of interest on the part of this witness. He did not even volunteer but was called by the detectives against the wish of his brother (p. 29). Moreover, all attempts to show collusion or even communi-
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cation (p. 39) between the two Chinese witnesses failed.  So far as appears they were not previously acquainted.

   Counsel says:

"It is improbable that the accused had a knife at the time of the stabbing- for if he had one he would have used it instead of the fruit dealer's knife when peeling his apple at the fruit shop."

   Now the only witness besides the accused himself who refers to such a knife is Gregorio Gaisting and he testified on direct examination (Dep., p. 3) in reply to the

   "Q. Tell us who used the knife?

   A. I alone myself, in peeling the apples."

   On cross-examination, indeed he says (p. 12) "each of us used the same knife." But if we were to apply to this witness the strictures which counsel would have us apply to the Chinese witnesses we would have to reject his testimony altogether.

   Assuming, however, that there was such a knife we do not think that it necessarily follows that the accused would have used his own instead. If the knife was passed around from one to the other it would seem quite natural for the accused to have used it along with the rest.

   Counsel also considers that

   "one evidence which seems to point strongly to the innocence of the accused is that he arrived at the ship ahead of Gregorio and Ramon thus indicating there was no delay in making his escape."

   But flight is usually treated
 as a mark of guilt, not innocence, and the more rapid the flight the stronger the mark.

   The decision
 of this Court invoked by counsel on the question of identification bears little resemblance to the
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case at bar. There the accused, an American sailor among many similarly dressed, was identified, some time after the affair, by the complaining witness only, who was to some extent an interested witness; while there were others present and certain contrary circumstances left unexplained.

Here the identification was by three persons, on the same evening when the crime was committed, none of whom can fairly be called interested, one of whom was of the accused's own race, and each of whom was independent of, and disconnected from, the others. To reject such an identification would be to discourage needed prosecutions and to render convictions well nigh impossible and we feel satisfied that it should be upheld as sufficient.

   But the same testimony which identifies the accused as the assailant also shows (p. 4) that his blow was aimed at another and that he did not intend to stab the deceased. This brings the facts within the limits of the offense charged, which is thus defined in a leading case:

   "Manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another without malice; and may be either voluntary, as when the act is committed with a real design and purpose to kill, but through the violence of sudden passion, occasioned by some great provocation, which in tenderness for the frailty of human nature the law considers sufficient to palliate the criminality of the offense; or involuntary, as when the death of another is caused by some unlawful act, not accompanied by any intention to take life."

   The Act of Congress of March 3, 1899, provides 

   "That whoever unlawfully kills another, except as provided in the last three sections, is guilty of manslaughter, and shall be imprisoned in the penitentiary not more than twenty nor less than one year."

   The Act of March 3, 1901, contains the following:

   "Whoever commits manslaughter shall be punished by a fine not exceeding one thousand dollars, or by imprisonment not exceeding fifteen years, or both such fine and imprisonment."
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   The Federal Penal Code of 1909 provides

   "Every person guilty of voluntary manslaughter shall be imprisoned not more than ten years. Every person guilty of involuntary manslaughter shall be imprisoned not more than three years, or fined not exceeding one thousand dollars, or both." "

   Here it will be seen is a progressive reduction of the maximum with the disappearance of the minimum. In view of the fact that the offense was committed in the midst of an affray in which, altho self-defense is not urged, as that would be inconsistent with his plea, the accused evidently had reason to fear for his personal safety, we feel that a penalty much below the maximum should be applied.

   The accused is accordingly sentenced to imprisonment for one year and six months and to pay the costs of this prosecution; the said term to run from his incarceration on August 21, 1917 and to continue in the Prison for American

convicts at Shanghai, until he can be transported to Bilibid Prison, Manila, territory of the Philippines, where the balance of said term shall be served.
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